
Plan Commission
Meeting Agenda - March 04, 2020

Page | 1

PUBLIC NOTICE & AGENDA
PLAN COMMISSION

City Hall Forum - 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511
7:00 PM

Wednesday, March 04, 2020

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

2. MINUTES
2.a. Consideration of the minutes of the February 5, 2020 Plan Commission meeting

Attachment

3. PUBLIC HEARINGS
3.a. Consideration of a Planned Unit Development Master Land Use Plan for the Beloit Snapper's

Stadium Redevelopment on the properties located at 202, 217, 220, and 232 Shirland Avenue;
55 Water Street; and portions of 225 Shirland Avenue and 101 Water Street
Attachment

3.b. Consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning from Central Business
District - Fringe (CBD-2) and Public Lands & Institutions (PLI) to Planned Unit Development
(PUD) for the properties located at 202, 217, 220 and 232 Shirland Avenue; 55 Water Street;
and portions of 225 Shirland Avenue and 101 Water Street

3.c. Consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning from Central Business
District - Core (CBD-1) and Public Lands & Institutions (PLI) to Planned Unit Development
(PUD) for the properties located at 500 Cross Street and part of 208 W. Grand Avenue. 
Attachment

4. REPORTS
4.a. Consideration of a resolution approving a one-lot Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map for the

property located at 3501 and 3503 E Shopiere Lane in the Town of Turtle
Attachment

4.b. Consideration of the proposed vacation of a portion of Water Street located between the lift
station driveway to Shirland Avenue
Attachment

5. STATUS REPORT ON PRIOR PLAN COMMISSION ITEMS

6. ADJOURNMENT

1

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/542664/02-05-2020_Plan_Commission_Minutes.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/542580/March_4_Staff_Report_3_a-b___Snappers_PUD_and_ZMA.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/542561/March_4_Staff_Report_3_c___ZMA-2020-01__208_W._Grand_Ave___500_Cross_Street.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/542560/March_4_Staff_Report_4_a___CSM-2020-03__3501_Shopiere_Lane__1_Lot_TOT.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/542640/March_4_Staff_Report_4_b___Vacation_of_Water_Street.pdf


Beloit Plan Commission
Meeting Agenda - March 04, 2020

Page | 2

** Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate the
needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information to request this service,
please contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511.

2



 

1 |  P a g e

 

 
 

MINUTES 
PLAN COMMISSION 

City Hall Forum - 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 
7:00 PM 

Wednesday, February 5th, 2020 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

Meeting was called to order by Vice-Chairperson Weeden at 7:00PM. Commissioner 
Haynes, Weeden, Finnegan, and Councilor Preuschl were present. Commissioner Johnson 
and Faragher were absent. 

 
2. MINUTES 

2.a. Consideration of the minutes of the January 8th, 2019 Plan Commission meeting 
Motion was made to correct the minutes from “Commissioner was Robson absent” 
to “Commissioner Robson was absent” by Commissioner Haynes, seconded by 
Commissioner Robson. Motion carried, voice vote. 

 
3. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

3.a. Consideration of a Preliminary Subdivision Plat for Eagles Ridge No. 4 and 5, 
including an Exception request relating to minimum right-of-way width 
Community Development Director Julie Christensen presented the staff report and 
recommendation.  She handed out a revised resolution which allowed for reduced 
right-of-way widths on certain streets and added a six foot City utility easement 
along the streets with reduced right-of-way widths. 
 
Commissioner Weeden opened public hearing. 

 
Jeffrey Linkenheld, 5291 Zenith Parkway, Project Manager for Arc Design, described 
the two preliminary plats, explaining that these are the last two plats that can be 
developed without a lift station to the south.  He explained that as you go south it 
starts to go downhill from the existing development.  They will need to figure out 
how to serve the remaining area in the future.  
 
He went on to discuss the exception request.  He explained that as they were 
developing the plat, the City ordinance was amended in relation to street widths.  
Consequently, they had to reconfigure the plat to make the streets connect and the 
loop the water main. The compromise is to have the larger right-of-way widths 
along the edges of the development, and then the smaller right-of-way widths in 
between.  The developer agreed to give the City a six foot easement for City utilities 
along the smaller right-of-ways which would essentially give the City the entire 

3



 

2 |  P a g e

 

right-of-way they wanted.  Mr. Linkenheld also explained that the plat includes 
temporary detention that could be redeveloped in the future too.  
 
Commissioner Robson asked when people will be able to move into houses in these 
subdivisions. Mr. Linkenheld stated they are looking to start the infrastructure late 
spring, so houses could be occupied by the end of the year.   
  
Andrew Knabe, 302 Shirland Lane, Poplar Grove Illinois, representing New Leaf 
construction, stated there are eight lots left in Plat 3. Commissioner Robson asked 
what the cost of the houses will be. Mr. Knabe stated that the house price range will 
be from $200,000-$250,000.  
 
Commissioner Weeden asked what the average square footage of the houses will 
be. Mr. Knabe stated they will be about 1500-2100 on average.  
 
Commissioner Ruster asked what will happen when we get a lot of rain, and will it 
flood out the yards. Mr. Linkenheld stated that the typical subdivision design is for a 
ten year storm event with the overland flood route down the street.  The houses 
and garages are constructed two feet above the curb line. They will have side yard 
drainage easements.  The water will drain to the detention pond.  
 
Commissioner Robson what school district will this neighborhood be in. Ms. 
Christensen stated that it will be in the Beloit School District. 
 
Commissioner Weeden closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion made by Commissioner Haynes to approve the Revised Resolution and 
seconded by Commissioner Robson. Motion carried, voice vote. 
 

4. REPORTS 
3.a. Consideration of a one-lot Certified Survey Map for the properties located at 200 

W Grand Avenue, 500 and 525 Cross Street, and a portion of 208 W Grand Avenue 
Community Development Director Julie Christensen presented the staff report and 
recommendation. 
 
Ms. Christensen stated that the City is selling a strip of green space. The parking lot 
is currently encroaching on City land.  The property line is located further west than 
the City thought it was. Ms. Christensen mentioned that there is four foot buffer to 
allow for City maintenance of the path which includes the fence.  Commissioner 
Haynes asked if they are going remove the existing fence that is chain link. Ms. 
Christensen stated that the fence is staying for the time being.  The fence further to 
the south will be removed.   
 

4



 

3 |  P a g e

 

Motion made by Commissioner Haynes and seconded by Commissioner Finnegan. 
Motion carried, voice vote. 
 

3.b. Consideration of a resolution approving an extraterritorial one-lot Certified 
Survey Map for the property located at 11638 S Turtle Townhall Road in the Town 
of Turtle 
Community Development Director Julie Christensen presented the staff report and 
recommendation. 

 
Motion made by Commissioner Robson and seconded by Commissioner Haynes. 
Motion carried, voice vote. 

 
5. STATUS REPORT ON PRIOR PLAN COMMISSION ITEMS 

Ms. Christensen stated that there was an Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map that was 
moved to the following meeting in March. The vacation of Water Street will be referred 
along with the PUD for the Snapper Stadium at the next City Council meeting.  They will 
considered by Plan Commission at the first meeting in March. A traffic study was not 
necessary since the traffic will be added to the streets downtown, but a parking study was 
done and it was inaccurate since they assumed the percentages of all lots downtown and 
on street parking will be open.  We have requested a revised parking study. 
 

6. ADJOURNMENT 
Motion was made by Commissioner Robson, seconded by Commissioner Ruster to adjourn 
the meeting. Motion passed (4, 1) voice vote. Meeting was adjourned at 7:50PM. 
 
Respectfully submitted by Amber DesRoberts.  

5



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION

Plan Commission Meeting Date: March 4, 2020

Agenda Item: 3(a) and 3(b)

File Number: PUD-2020-01 & ZMA-2020-02

General Information

Applicant: Riverbend Stadium Authority, Inc.

Owner: City of Beloit

Address/Location: 202, 217, 220, 232, & part of 225 Shirland Avenue; and 55 & part of 101 Water Street

Applicant’s Request/Proposal: Riverbend Stadium Authority, Inc. has submitted an application for review and
consideration of a Planned Unit Development (PUD) - Master Land Use Plan for the Beloit Snapper’s Stadium
Redevelopment on the properties located at 202, 217, 220, 232, & part of 225 Shirland Avenue as well as 55 &
part of 101 Water Street. This proposed redevelopment consists of the vacation of Water Street followed by
the construction of a 3,500-seat baseball stadium and entertainment venue. The subject properties are owned
by the City of Beloit and will be leased to the Riverbend Stadium Authority. The Lease and Development
Agreement relating to public improvements are under negotiation and will be reviewed by the City Council at
a future date. The properties are zoned Central Business District (CBD-2) and Public Lands & Institutions (PLI),
and are proposed to be rezoned to PUD.

Planned Unit Development (PUD) Process: A PUD is a type of special purpose zoning district and a type of
development plan. PUD zoning districts are inextricably linked to PUD plans; no rights of development apply to
a PUD zoning designation other than those of the approved PUD plan. PUDs are processed in three stages:
Master Land Use Plan; Rezoning to PUD district and Final (Site) Plan. Master Land Use Plans and Zoning Map
Amendments may be processed concurrently, provided that no rezoning to the PUD district may occur until
approval of a PUD Master Land Use Plan.

The PUD Master Land Use Plan application is reviewed with respect to such issues as density, including the
number, type, and location of buildings and other uses; impacts on surrounding areas; and the adequacy of
facilities and services. The result of this review is the establishment of the basic parameters for
development of the PUD. The PUD Final (Site) Plan is the document upon which building permits and other
applicable approvals are issued. The applicant must submit the detailed and technical information necessary
to demonstrate that all applicable standards, requirements, and conditions have been met.

Staff Analysis

Project Summary: The proposed stadium and entertainment venue will include a stadium grandstand building
with administrative offices and locker rooms at street level, concessions & restrooms at concourse level, and a
third level “stadium club” for use during games and special events throughout the year. The stadium will
include a turf field for both baseball & soccer, a 360-degree concourse, a playground, and family
entertainment zones. The main access gate will be located behind center field, and will be accessible from
extensive walkways and a new cul-de-sac at the end of Water Street.

6



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

Existing Site Conditions: The Riverbend parcel (217 Shirland Ave) is a flat, vacant, 5.2-acre parcel that is
designated for mixed use redevelopment by the Comprehensive Plan and zoned Central Business District. The
properties located at 202, 220, & 232 Shirland Avenue are vacant City-owned parcels on the south side of
Shirland Avenue zoned Central Business District. The proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan includes two small
portions of the Transit Transfer Facility parcel at 225 Shirland Avenue as shown on the Stadium Parcel
Diagram, page 7 of the applicant’s Supporting Narrative. The property located at 55 Water Street is a City-
owned outlot along the Rock River that includes a bike/pedestrian path with lighting and landscaping features,
and is zoned PLI, Public Lands & Institutions District. The proposed PUD also includes a small portion of the lift
station property located at 101 Water Street, which is also zoned PLI.

Surrounding Land Use and Zoning: City facilities including City Hall, the Transit Transfer Facility, a park & ride
lot, and the water tower compound are located to the east of the subject properties and are zoned Central
Business District (CBD-2). The Rock River lies to the west and north of the subject properties. Portions of the
site are located in the 100-year or 1% annual chance floodplain, which requires new buildings to be elevated
to the Flood Protection Elevation on fill.

Parking Requirements and Study: According to Section 8-103 of the Zoning Ordinance, the proposed baseball
stadium and entertainment venue requires a Parking Study. The applicant has completed a Parking Study,
which is summarized on page 5 of the attached PUD Supporting Narrative and is available in full upon request.
Using an off-street parking requirement of 1 parking stall per 4 seats, the proposed stadium will require 875
off-street parking spaces. The proposed PUD includes the construction of a northern parking lot containing
111 spaces and a southern lot containing 115 spaces for a total of 226 newly constructed spaces. According to
the Parking Study, there are 1,254 public parking stalls (260 on-street and 994 off-street) within a 10-minute
walk of the stadium. The study assumes that at least 60% or 752 public parking stalls will be available during
regularly scheduled baseball games. The study evaluated public parking availability during typical game times
such as weekday evenings (69% available), Saturday afternoons (61% available), and Saturday evenings (71%
available). All told, the Parking Study concludes that the 226 newly constructed stalls and 752 public parking
stalls will total at least 978 available parking stalls in excess of the projected demand.

Planning staff accepts the Parking Study’s findings, and notes that many of the most iconic baseball stadiums
in the U.S. (e.g. Wrigley Field, Fenway Park) are located in dense urban areas where parking is scattered within
a 10-minute walk of the stadium and the ballpark has a symbiotic relationship with downtown businesses,
especially bars and restaurants such as those in downtown Beloit. The proposed stadium is well-served by
transit, sidewalks, and bike paths to encourage alternative forms of transportation. Furthermore, there are
generational and technological changes underway such as the proliferation of E-scooters, ride share apps, and
autonomous vehicles that will greatly reduce the demand for immediately adjacent parking stalls over the
lifespan of the proposed stadium. It would be extremely ill-advised to repeat the failed urban planning policies
of 50 years ago by demolishing thriving and productive structures to make way for surface parking lots.

Review Agent Comments: The City’s Review Agents have reviewed the proposed PUD and offered a variety of
comments relating to both the construction of the stadium facility and the long-term operations. While some
of the comments relate to the Lease and Development Agreement (which are outside the scope of this land
use approval), others relate to the proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan. The attached letter was sent to the
applicant’s design team on February 24th and includes technical review comments that must be addressed
when the Final PUD (Site) Plan is submitted.

7



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

Zoning Ordinance Requirements:
Density/Intensity and Dimensional Standards: The applicant has proposed a 15-foot setback from the
Shirland Avenue lot line and a 5-foot setback from the eastern side lot line. There are no minimum
setbacks in the Central Business District (CBD). The proposed grandstand building is three stories in height
and 67,000 square-feet in area. There is no maximum building height in the CBD. Two other buildings are
proposed – a concession building to serve seating areas along the first base line and a maintenance
building adjacent to the center field entrance gate. Planning staff believes that it is appropriate to apply
the design standards of the CBD to the proposed PUD (see condition #7). The proposed development
includes open space in excess of the 15% required for PUD projects.
Building Design: The proposed buildings include brick exteriors, arched doorway & window openings,
plazas, extensive landscaping, and ample bike & pedestrian amenities.

PUD Master Land Use Plan Review Criteria: Applications may be approved if the following criteria are met:

1. The plan represents an improvement over what could have been accomplished through strict
application of otherwise applicable zoning ordinance standards, based on the purpose and intent
of this chapter.
The proposed PUD includes a combination of entertainment uses that would not be possible under
the current CBD zoning district classification. The proposed PUD is arguably one of the most
ambitious redevelopment projects in the City’s history, and will further bolster downtown Beloit’s
emerging national reputation as a vibrant, bustling entertainment district. The proposed buildings
include exceptional design that will be integrated with the City’s floodplain zoning requirements.

2. The PUD Master Land Use Plan complies with the PUD district standards of Section 5-300.
As an infill project of significant scale, the proposed PUD will provide for efficient use of public
utilities and vacant land, and will be an attractive campus that is compatible with adjacent uses.

3. The City and other service providers will be able to provide necessary public services, facilities, and
programs to serve the development proposed, at the time the property is developed;
As a redevelopment site, the properties are already served with the necessary utilities and facilities.
All relocation/replacement costs will be borne by the developer, and will be outlined in a separate
Lease and/or Development Agreement with the City that must be approved by the City Council.

4. The development is consistent with and implements the planning goals and objectives contained in
the Comprehensive Plan and other adopted policy documents; and
The proposed development is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan’s recommendations to
redevelop the site as a mixed use project that is compatible with the existing downtown fabric. The
proposed development will create a year-round destination with a symbiotic relationship with
existing downtown businesses.

5. The PUD Master Land Use Plan is consistent with sound planning practice and the development
will promote the general welfare of the community.
The plan will redevelop a pivotal site along the river that is located within walking distance of
Ironworks, downtown Beloit restaurants and shops, the Transit Center, and the Bluff Street Historic
District. The proposed development is the exact type of urban infill that will attract young
professionals to live, work, and play in the City of Beloit.

Zoning Map Amendment Findings of Fact: Based on Section 2-304 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan
Commission shall make a recommendation based on the following considerations:

1. The existing use of property within the general area of the subject property.

8



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

The proposed PUD is compatible with the adjacent commercial, institutional, and open space uses.
2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the subject property.

The proposed PUD is consistent with both the permitted uses and design principles in the CBD.
3. The suitability of the subject property for the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification.

The subject property is suitable for the uses allowed in the CBD and PLI districts.
4. The trend of development and zoning map amendments in the general area of the subject property.

The subject property is located on the edge of downtown Beloit, which has seen dramatic investment
and revitalization over the past decade. As a dense, walkable district with lots of stores & restaurants
and thousands of recently created jobs, the proposed stadium & entertainment venue is likely to
become the centerpiece of Beloit’s emerging status as a tourism and entertainment destination.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION – PUD MASTER LAND USE PLAN:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the PUD – Master Land Use Plan for the
properties located at 202, 217, 220, 232, & part of 225 Shirland Avenue as well as 55 & part of 101 Water
Street, subject to the following conditions:

1. This approval authorizes the construction of a 3,500-seat baseball stadium and entertainment venue
including a grandstand building, entrance plazas, concourse, seating, turf field, fencing, playground,
entertainment zones, and accessory buildings as shown on the attached plan.

2. This approval shall not become effective unless and until a Lease between the City of Beloit and
Riverbend Stadium Authority is approved by the City Council and fully executed.

3. This approval shall not become effective unless and until a Development Agreement between the City
of Beloit and the applicant and/or developer is approved by the City Council and fully executed.

4. This approval shall not become effective until a Plat of Vacation for that portion of Water Street
between the lift station driveway and Shirland Avenue is approved and recorded.

5. The applicant shall construct at least 226 new off-street parking stalls to serve the proposed facility
prior to occupancy. The applicant is responsible for obtaining approvals from the City of South Beloit.

6. The permitted uses in this PUD shall include baseball games, soccer games, offices, training areas,
locker rooms, offices, retail sales & service uses, and outdoor concerts provided that appropriate
approvals are obtained from the City of Beloit. All fireworks usage requires Fire Department approval.
The sale of alcoholic beverages is permitted provided proper City licenses are obtained.

7. The design standards shall be those that apply in the CBD (i.e. lot size, setbacks, height, and building
coverage) as well as the City’s floodplain ordinance where applicable.

8. Prior to issuance of a Building Permit, the applicant shall obtain site plan and architectural approval,
which shall include a detailed review of all site, grading, utility, landscape, and lighting plans. All of the
attached Review Agent comments shall be addressed prior to or during the Site Plan Review process.

9. The outdoor sign package for the PUD shall require City Council review & approval once finalized.
10. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan

Commission and City Council by amending this PUD – Master Land Use Plan. The Director of Planning &
Building Services may approve minor changes administratively and allow accessory structures and uses
that comply with and meet all of the standards and requirements of the City of Beloit Municipal Code.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION – ZONING MAP AMENDMENT:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the
zoning district classification from CBD-2, Central Business District - Fringe to PUD District, for the properties
located at 202, 217, 220, 232, & part of 225 Shirland Avenue and from PLI, Public Lands & Institutions District
to PUD for the properties located at 55 & part of 101 Water Street.

ATTACHMENTS: Location Map, PUD - Master Land Use Plan, PUD Supporting Narrative, Elevations, Letter re:
Review Agent Comments, Application, Public Notice, and Mailing List.

9



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

10



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

11



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

12



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

13



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

14



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

15



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

16



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

17



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

18



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

19



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

20



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

21



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

22



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

23



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

24



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

25



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

26



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

27



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

28



PUD-2020-01, Snappers Stadium

Public Notice Mailing List

29



March 4 Staff Report 3(c), ZMA-2020-01, 208 W. Grand Ave & 500 Cross Street 

 

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  March 4, 2020 

Agenda Item:  3.c.  

File Number:  ZMA-2020-01 

 

General Information 

 
Applicant:  City of Beloit  
 
Owner:  City of Beloit, (City Council has approved a purchase agreement to sell the land to 200 West Grand 
Avenue LLC) 
 
Address/Location: 500 Cross Street & part of 208 W. Grand Avenue 
 
Applicant’s Request/Proposal:  200 West Grand Avenue, LLC has an approved Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) - Master Land Use Plan for the phased mixed use redevelopment of the former Kerry production site 
located at 200 W. Grand Avenue, 525 Cross Street, 500 Cross Street, and the easternmost 15 feet of 208 W. 
Grand Avenue into three buildings totaling up to 174 dwelling units, limited first floor commercial uses, and an 
off-street parking lot. The subject properties need to be consolidated into one zoning lot for this project. The 
Plan Commission prior approval of the CSM is contingent on the rezoning of the city-owned parcels, which 
must occur before closing. 
 

Staff Analysis 

 
Project Summary:  The applicant has hired a contractor to demolish the existing structure to prepare the site 
for future building activity. The first proposed 4-story building in this PUD includes up to 54 units and is 
located near the intersection of W. Grand Avenue and Fourth Street. The building will include indoor parking, 
a rental office, and limited commercial uses on the first floor. The proposed building includes permitted uses 
in the Central Business District. In addition, existing sewer mains that conflict with the proposed building 
location will need to be relocated. The proposed parking lot includes one driveway on W. Grand Avenue, 
which will also lead to the covered parking entrance. 

 
Existing Site Conditions:  500 Cross Street is a vacant parcel of land and 208 W. Grand Avenue is part of the 
Riverside Corridor Bike/Walking Path. The City will retain ownership of the bike path.  

 
Surrounding Land Use and Zoning:  The remaining portion of bike path and a historic church are located to 
the west of the subject properties and are zoned PLI, Public Lands & Institutions. The Central Business District 
(CBD) extends to the North and East of the subject properties and includes a mixture of commercial uses and 
public parking areas. 
 
City of Beloit Comprehensive and Strategic Plan:  In anticipation of the proposed redevelopment, City Council 
approved an amendment on September 17, 2019 amending the Downtown Beloit Future Land Use Map (Map 
9) of the City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan, from Production to Planned Mixed Use:  Office/Residential above 
retail.  

30



March 4 Staff Report 3(c), ZMA-2020-01, 208 W. Grand Ave & 500 Cross Street 

 
 
Zoning Map Amendment Findings of Fact:  Based on Section 2-304 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan 
Commission shall make a recommendation based on the following considerations: 
 

1. The existing use of property within the general area of the subject property. 
The proposed PUD is compatible with the adjacent institutional and commercial uses. 

  
2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the subject property.  

The proposed PUD is consistent with both the permitted uses and design principles in the CBD. 
 
3. The suitability of the subject property for the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification.  

The subject property is suitable for the uses allowed in the CBD, but an equivalent amount of dwelling 
units and floor space would require a high-rise tower. 
 

4. The trend of development and zoning map amendments in the general area of the subject property.  
The subject property is located on the edge of the Central Business District, which has seen dramatic 
investment and revitalization over the past decade. As a dense, walkable district with lots of new 
stores & restaurants and thousands of recently created jobs, housing is in strong demand. The 
properties owned by 200 West Grand Avenue LLC at 200 W. Grand Avenue and 525 Cross Street have 
already been rezoned to PUD, Planned Unit Development.  

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION – ZONING MAP AMENDMENT: 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the 
zoning district classification from CBD-1, Central Business District – Core and PLI, Public Lands and Institutions 
to PUD, Planned Unit Development District, for the properties located at 500 Cross Street and part of 208 W. 
Grand Avenue. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  Location & Zoning Map, PUD - Master Land Use Plan, Application, Public Notice, and Mailing 
List. 
 
 

31



March 4 Staff Report 3(c), ZMA-2020-01, 208 W. Grand Ave & 500 Cross Street 

L
e

g
e

n
d

Z
o

n
in

g
 C

la
s

s
if

ic
a

ti
o

n

<
a

ll 
o

th
e

r 
v
a

lu
e
s
>

R
E

G
U

L
A

T
IO

N
C

L
A

S
S

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

C
-1

C
-2

C
-3

C
B

D
-1

C
B

D
-2

D
H

M
-1

M
-2

M
R

O

P
L

I

P
U

D

R
-1

A

R
-1

B

R
-2

R
-3

R
-4

P
a

rc
e

l 
P

o
ly

C
it
y
 L

im
it
s
 (

C
o

rp
 P

o
ly

)

32



March 4 Staff Report 3(c), ZMA-2020-01, 208 W. Grand Ave & 500 Cross Street 

Approved PUD – Master Land Use Plan 

Land Being 
Rezoned to PUD 

33



March 4 Staff Report 3(c), ZMA-2020-01, 208 W. Grand Ave & 500 Cross Street 

34



March 4 Staff Report 3(c), ZMA-2020-01, 208 W. Grand Ave & 500 Cross Street 

35



March 4 Staff Report 3(c), ZMA-2020-01, 208 W. Grand Ave & 500 Cross Street 

  

 
NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 

 
February 19, 2020 

 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
The City of Beloit has submitted an application for review and consideration for a zoning map 
amendment to rezone two properties.  The subject properties include: 
 

500 Cross Street and the easternmost 15 feet of 208 W. Grand Avenue. 
 
The applicant is seeking to rezone 500 Cross Street from CBD-1, Central Business District to 
PUD, Planned Unit Development and the easternmost 15 feet of 208 W. Grand Avenue from 
PLI, Public Lands and Institutions to PUD, Planned Unit Development.  
 
The request is part of a phased mixed use redevelopment of the former Kerry production site that 
includes the demolition of the existing structure followed by construction of three new buildings 
totaling up to 174 dwelling units, limited first floor commercial uses, and an off-street parking 
lot.  A copy of the proposed plan is attached. 
 
The following public hearings will be held regarding these applications: 
 
City Plan Commission:  Wednesday, March 4, 2020, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the 
matter can be heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 
 
City Council:  Monday, March 16, 2020, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the matter can be 
heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 
 

THE PUBLIC IS INVITED TO ATTEND THESE HEARINGS. 
We are interested in your opinion. 

 
Anyone bringing handouts to the Plan Commission meeting must bring ten (10) copies and 
submit them to the Recording Secretary before the meeting begins. 
 
For additional information, please contact Hilary Rottmann in the Planning & Building 
Services Division at (608) 364-6708 or rottmannh@beloitwi.gov.  Comments will be accepted 
via telephone, email, and U.S. Mail. 
 

Jagger Bay Properties LLC 
141 Roosevelt Ave 
Beloit WI 53511 

 St. Pauls Episcopal Church 
212 W. Grand Ave 
Beloit WI 53511 

 Roselind Spodek 
75 Columbia Ave 

Cederhurst, NY 11516 

36

mailto:rottmannh@beloitwi.gov


March 4 Staff Report 3(c), ZMA-2020-01, 208 W. Grand Ave & 500 Cross Street 

 
 
 
 

 

Hendricks Commercial Properties 
525 Third St Ste 300 

Beloit WI 53511 

 Musa Dabeca 
4742 N. Oakley Blvd 

Chicago IL 60625 

 Masonic Temple 
Attn: Trustees Morningstar 

229 W Grand Ave 
Beloit WI 53511 

Peter V Gabriele Property Trust 
547 E. Grand Ave 
Beloit WI 53511 

 Lisa Isackson 
5174 Cheney Drive 

South Beloit IL 61080 

  

Dante Development LLC 
P.O. Box 931 

Beloit WI 53512-0931 

 Arn Properties LLC 
P.O. Box 80 

Afton WI 53501 

  

Juana Palomares-Martinez 
114 W. Grand Ave 
Beloit WI 53511 

 Brittan House Beloit Sro Limited 
Partnership 

520 W. Grand Ave 
Beloit WI 53511 

  

Hart Kruse Beutelle Inc 
120 W. Grand Ave 
Beloit WI 53511 

 Thomas Ruckert 
2440 S. Clover Ln 
Beloit WI 53511 

  

FPS Rental Inc 
P.O. Box 41 

Beloit WI 53511 

 John & Mary Varney 
12249 W. St Lawrence Rd 

Beloit WI 53511 

  

200 West Grand Avenue 
525 Thrid St Ste 300 

Beloit Wi 53511 

 St. Vincent Depaul Society Store 
Inc 

1702 W. Grand Ave 
Beloit WI 53511 

  

United Supply LLC 
1521 Randolph Rd Ste A 

Janesville, WI 53545 

 Richard & Karen Nohr Family 
Trust 

620 Cross St 
Beloit WI 53511 

  

37



March 4 Staff Report 4(a), CSM-2020-03, 3501 Shopiere Lane, 1 Lot TOT 

 
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  March 4, 2020 

Agenda Item:  4.a. 

File Number:  CSM-2020-03 

 

General Information 

 
Applicant:  Bradley Heuer, Surveyor of Rock County  
 
Owner:  Rock County  
 
Address/Location:  3501 & 3503 E. Shopiere Lane 
 
Applicant’s Request:  The applicant has proposed a 1-Lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) for 3501 
& 3503 E. Shopiere Lane in the Town of Turtle.   
 

Staff Analysis 

 
Existing Conditions:  The current use of the area covered by this CSM is a service building and 
salt storage for Rock County Public Works and vacant retail facility.   

Proposed Land Division: The intent of the proposed CSM is to create 1-lot for Rock County 
Public Works to construct new vehicle storage and salt storage buildings.  
 
Surrounding Land Use and Zoning:  There are mobile home uses zoned CHI, Commercial 
Highway Interchange District, to the north and east of the subject property.  To the south is 
vacant land zoned CHI, Commercial Highway Interchange District. Wisconsin I-39/90 is located 
to the west of the subject properties. All surrounding properties are in the Town of Turtle. 
 
City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  The Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land 
Use Map states these properties are located in the long range Urban Growth Area and 
recommends Commercial and Institutional & Community Services for the subject properties.  
 
Municipal Utilities:  The subject properties are not currently served by municipal utilities.  
 
Review Agent Comments:  The proposed Certified Survey Map (CSM) was sent to the City of 
Beloit Staff and Utility Contacts and they have no comments.  
 
 
  

38



March 4 Staff Report 4(a), CSM-2020-03, 3501 Shopiere Lane, 1 Lot TOT 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached 1-Lot Certified 
Survey Map (CSM) for the properties located at 3501 and 3503 E. Shopiere Lane in the Town of 
Turtle, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds by December 
31, 2020 and a copy provided to the Planning and Building Services Division. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  Location Map, Preliminary Certified Survey Map, and Application. 

 

39



March 4 Staff Report 4(a), CSM-2020-03, 3501 Shopiere Lane, 1 Lot TOT  

LOCATION MAP 
 

 

40



March 4 Staff Report 4(a), CSM-2020-03, 3501 Shopiere Lane, 1 Lot TOT 

 

 
41



March 4 Staff Report 4(a), CSM-2020-03, 3501 Shopiere Lane, 1 Lot TOT 

   
      

42



March 4 Staff Report 4(a), CSM-2020-03, 3501 Shopiere Lane, 1 Lot TOT 

43



March 4 Staff Report 4(a), CSM-2020-03, 3501 Shopiere Lane, 1 Lot TOT 

 
RESOLUTION 

APPROVING A ONE-LOT CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 
FOR THE PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 

3501 & 3505 E. SHOPIERE LANE 
 

WHEREAS, Section 12.05(1)b of Chapter 12 of the Code of General Ordinances of the 
City of Beloit entitled “Subdivision and Official Map Ordinance” authorizes the City Plan 
Commission of the City of Beloit to approve, conditionally approve, or reject any minor 
subdivision of land within the jurisdiction of the City; and 
 

WHEREAS, the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map for the properties located at 3501 
and 3505 E. Shopiere Lane, contain 6.748 acres, more or less, is located within the jurisdiction of 
the City of Beloit; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit has reviewed the attached 
one-lot Certified Survey Map, which pertains to the following described land: 
 

PART OF LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP, VOLUME 2, PAGE 39, 
DOCUMENT NUMBER 766180 AND PART OF THE SOUTHEAST 
QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 8, TOWNSHIP 1 
NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST, OF THE FOURTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
TURTLE TOWNSHIP, ROCK COUNTY, WISONSIN. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Plan Commission of the City of 

Beloit does hereby conditionally approve the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map for the 
properties located at 3501 and 35305 E. Shopiere Lane, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds by 
December 31, 2020 and a copy provided to the Planning and Building Services 
Division. 

 
Adopted this 4th day of March, 2020. 

 
 
  _ 
 James Faragher, Plan Commission Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
  
Julie Christensen, 
Community Development Director 
 
 
 

44



VA-2020-01, Vacation of Part of Water Street

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION

Plan Commission Meeting Date: March 4, 2020

Agenda Item: 4(b)

File Number: VA-2020-01

General Information

Applicant/Owner: City of Beloit

Address/Location: Water Street (from the lift station driveway to Shirland Avenue)

Applicant’s Request: Vacation of Public Street (Right-of-Way)

Staff Analysis

Overview: The City has initiated the vacation of a portion of Water Street from the lift station driveway to
Shirland Avenue adjacent to the Riverbend site as part of the Snapper’s Stadium Redevelopment Project. As
required by Wisconsin Statutes, the City Council has adopted a Resolution which sets a date for a public
hearing for this vacation request of April 20, 2020. The proposed Plat of Vacation is attached to this report.

Background: The proposed area to be vacated is 65,133 square-feet (1.495 acres) in area, and includes an
existing local street improved with curb & gutter, lights, and storm sewers. If approved, the area to be vacated
will be incorporated into the Riverbend Stadium Authority redevelopment site. The bike path will remain open
to the public but will be relocated closer to the river. Water Street was platted and dedicated to the public in
2010 as part of the Final Plat of Riverbend, the same year that a portion of Mill Street was vacated and
incorporated into the City Hall and Regal Beloit parking lots. The attached Public Notice was sent to all
adjacent businesses and property owners, along with the Wisconsin DOT. Access will be preserved to the Post
Office, Bus Station, Lift Station, and Regal Beloit parking lot. A cul-de-sac will be constructed at the end of
Water Street as shown on the attached PUD – Master Land Use Plan.

Proposed Planned Unit Development (PUD): The Riverbend Stadium Authority has submitted applications for
review & approval of a PUD – Master Land Use Plan and PUD zoning for the Riverbend site and adjacent land.
The proposed stadium will only fit on the subject property if Water Street is vacated as proposed. Therefore,
Planning staff is recommending approval of the PUD subject to approval of this vacation request.

Review Agent Comments: Alliant Energy has noted the presence of a high pressure gas main in a portion of
the area to be vacated in an area proposed as future parking lot, and has requested the reservation of a utility
easement. The Water Resources Director has noted that storm sewer infrastructure is present in the area to
be vacated, which will be removed by the developer in accordance with a Development Agreement.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the vacation of a portion of Water Street
as described in the attached Plat of Vacation, returning the right-of-way to the adjacent property owner.

ATTACHMENTS: Plat of Vacation, Proposed PUD, Petition, Public Hearing Resolution, & Public Notice.

45



VA-2020-01, Vacation of Part of Water Street

Plat of Vacation

46



VA-2020-01, Vacation of Part of Water Street

PUD – Master Land Use Plan

47



VA-2020-01, Vacation of Part of Water Street

48



VA-2020-01, Vacation of Part of Water Street

49



VA-2020-01, Vacation of Part of Water Street

50



VA-2020-01, Vacation of Part of Water Street

51


	Plan Commission Agenda
	2018-2145 - Attachment
	2018-2146 - Attachment
	2018-2149 - Attachment
	2018-2148 - Attachment
	2018-2150 - Attachment

